SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 2 7 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Case No. S238544

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED AUBURN INDIAN COMMUNITY OF THE AUBURN RANCHERIA,

Appellant,

v.

EDMUND G. BROWN, JR., in his official capacity as Governor of the State of California, and DOES 1 through 50 inclusive,

Respondent.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal Third Appellate District Affirming the Judgment Dismissing the Action

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Thomas F. Gede (SBN 99295) Colin C. West (SBN 184095) MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP One Market Street, Spear Tower San Francisco, CA 94105 Telephone No. (415) 442-1000 Facsimile No. (415) 442-1001

ISSUES PRESENTED

This Court granted Plaintiff-Appellant United Auburn Indian
Community's Petition for Review on the following issue:

"May the Governor concur in a decision by the Secretary of the Interior to take off-reservation land in trust for purposes of tribal gaming without legislative authorization or ratification, or does such an action violate the separation of powers provisions of the state Constitution?"

The Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, held the California Governor has the power to concur in a federal Indian gaming determination—a concurrence that legalizes class II and class III tribal gaming on off-reservation land. The Court ruled this power is an executive act, not a legislative one, because it performs a role in a federal program in which the legislature made a policy decision to participate. United Auburn Indian Community (UAIC) petitioned this Court for review of that decision, urging this Court to reverse and vacate the concurrence as void.

Three weeks after UAIC filed the Petition for Review, the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, ruled in *Stand Up for California! v. State of California*, 6 Cal. App. 5th 686 (2016). There, the court examined the Governor's concurrence in a similar off-reservation tribal gaming dispute and ruled, in three separate opinions, each with different reasoning, that the Governor's concurrence was invalid, as it exceeded his authority under the California Constitution. This Court has granted review in Stand Up!, but deferred further action pending consideration and disposition of a related issue in this case.

Given the two conflicting rulings of the Court of Appeal, the broader issue fairly raised in the question presented is this:

Does the Governor lack authority to concur in federal Indian gaming determinations, thereby permitting gaming on recently acquired Indian lands, whether as a violation of separation of powers or because it exceeds his authority under the prohibitions on gaming in the California Constitution?

INTRODUCTION

This Court is presented with a fundamental question of whether the governor can exercise a power not expressly granted in the California Constitution, a power which triggers significant consequences under federal law in this case, namely the legalization of off-reservation tribal gaming. As explained below, this Court should hold the Constitution does not empower the Governor to act here, as he or she is wholly without that power, and in any case, it would violate the state's separation of powers doctrine.

California's "fundamental public policy" has long been to prohibit gambling in the state. *Hotel Employees & Restaurant Employees Int'l v. Davis*, 21 Cal. 4th 585, 589 (1999) ("*Davis*"). That policy is embedded in the state constitution, which has historically prohibited or limited various types of gambling, and which in 1984 was amended to strip the legislature of all power "to authorize ... casinos of the type currently operating in Nevada and New Jersey." Cal. Const. art. IV, § 19(e). A few years later, the United States Supreme Court effectively exempted Indian gaming from that prohibition. *See California v. Cabazon Band of Mission Indians*, 480 U.S. 202 (1987) ("*Cabazon*"). Congress responded by enacting the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act ("IGRA"), which returned to California and other

states the power to regulate and prohibit most Indian gaming within their borders.

IGRA distinguishes between classes of gaming, ranging from class I (ceremonial tribal gaming for nominal stakes), to class II (bingo and nonbanked card games), to class III (everything else, including slots and Vegas-style casino gambling). See 25 U.S.C. § 2703. IGRA also distinguishes among types of Indian lands where gaming can occur, principally according to when the underlying land became "Indian lands." The key date is October 17, 1988. For pre-1988 Indian lands, IGRA permits class I and class II gaming with minimal procedures, and permits class III gaming, but only if the tribe and the state enter into a "Tribal-State compact" that governs gaming on the land. See 25 U.S.C. § 2710(a)-(d). For most Indian lands acquired after 1988, IGRA absolutely prohibits class II and class III tribal gaming. Congress provided limited exceptions to that prohibition, the most notable of which is for off-reservation lands taken in trust after 1988. Under this exception, class II or III gaming can occur if the Secretary of the Interior makes a two-part determination (that gaming will be good for the tribe and not bad for the neighboring community) and if the governor of the state concurs in that determination. See 25 U.S.C. § 2719(b)(1)(A).

IGRA respects state sovereignty, and a string of federal-court decisions affirms that (1) whether to compact with a tribe¹ and (2) whether to concur in the Secretary's determinations are pure questions of state law

¹ While written in mandatory terms ("the State shall negotiate . . . in good faith," etc.), IGRA does not compel the state to participate if the state so chooses, nor can the tribe sue the state without its consent. *See Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Florida*, 517 U.S. 44, 76 (1996).

and policy, to be made without federal interference or influence, and that the powers to compact and concur must arise from state law. The state Constitution expressly grants the Governor power *to compact*, but it does not expressly grant the power *to concur*. A key question here is whether the Governor, consistent with the California Constitution and the separation of powers doctrine, has the power to concur in the secretarial determinations.

Whether the Governor can negotiate and execute a compact for gaming on land that is not Indian land is fairly included within this question on the facts here. As discussed below, the Governor argued in this case, and in *Stand Up!*, that his power to concur was ancillary and incidental to his power to compact. However, if the Governor lacked authority to compact in this case, since the lands at issue were not Indian land, he certainly could not have a concurring power that was ancillary and incidental to a *non-existent* compacting power.

The answer to both questions is no. As for the first question, regarding concurring, neither the Constitution nor any statute grants the power to the Governor to concur. The power to concur is legislative, and the Constitution grants the Governor no power to concur. The Governor violates the separation of powers when he or she exercises legislative power without express constitutional authority. *See Lukens v. Nye*, 156 Cal. 498, 501 (1909) ("*Lukens*") ("As an executive officer, [the Governor] is forbidden to exercise any legislative power or function except as in the constitution expressly provided.").

The difference between executive power and legislative power is that the Governor can *execute* state policy but cannot *create* it. Gaming is a quintessentially legislative prerogative because whether and to what extent

to approve gaming are questions with significant, policy-laden ramifications the legislature is best suited to study and balance. That's one reason why the constitutional prohibition on gaming appears in Article IV of the California Constitution—the article governing *legislative* powers. Even when the people of California amended the constitutional prohibition on gaming in 2000, authorizing the Governor to negotiate compacts with tribes, they simultaneously limited that authority by subjecting all such compacts "to ratification by the Legislature." *See* Cal. Const. Art. IV, § 19(f). Compacting, which permits gambling in places the Constitution would otherwise prohibit, is an exercise of legislative power. Moreover, nothing in the Constitution, expressly or impliedly, authorizes the Governor to concur. Thus, where, as here, the Governor concurs absent legislative authorization, he violates the separation of powers.

Moreover, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Stand Up!* supports the proposition that this Court need not even examine whether there is a violation of separation of powers in order to invalidate his concurrence. That case held that the Governor lacks power to concur under the Constitution, either under the facts of that case (Justices Smith and Detjen) or wholly without power under all circumstances (Justice Franson).

As for the second, related, question regarding compacting, the Governor exceeds his constitutional authority when he or she purports to negotiate and execute a compact on land that is not Indian land. Compacting is an exercise of legislative power, since it, like concurring, is a policy-laden determination regarding an issue—gaming—that the Constitution expressly puts under the Legislature's control. The Governor "may exercise legislative power only in the manner expressly authorized by the Constitution." *Harbor v. Deukmejian*, 43 Cal. 3d 1078, 1084 (1987)

("Harbor"). And the Constitution permits the Governor to negotiate compacts for gambling only on "Indian lands." Here, the Governor negotiated and executed a compact for gaming on off-reservation land before that land was taken into trust for the Enterprise Rancheria of Maidu Indians of California. Because the Governor negotiated and concluded that compact for gaming on land that was *not* Indian land, he exceeded his authority.

Governor Brown had no power to concur and thereby allow not only off-reservation casino-style tribal gaming, but also un-compacted class II gaming, which was *not* the subject of the compacting power in Article IV, section 19(f). All three opinions in *Stand Up!* correctly hold the Governor did not have the power to concur in that case, and *Stand Up!* is fully applicable here. Nor did the Governor have the power to compact on the facts here. Accordingly, the lower courts' contrary holding in this case should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Federal Law Concerning Indian Gaming

Regulation of Indian gaming is a joint federal, state, and Indian endeavor. Without state approval, federal law permits only low-stakes Indian gaming on historic Indian lands. Higher-stakes gaming, and any gaming on recently acquired off-reservation lands, requires state approval, and tribes must continually ensure that such gaming is conducted in accordance with law.

IGRA codifies this regulatory regime. One of IGRA's express purposes is "to provide a statutory basis for the operation of gaming by Indian tribes as a means of promoting tribal economic development, self-

sufficiency, and strong tribal governments." 25 U.S.C. § 2702(1). Before IGRA's enactment, Indian gaming was proliferating without adequate oversight. *See* 25 U.S.C. § 2701. After the United States Supreme Court stopped California's effort to regulate Indian gaming in *Cabazon*, 480 U.S. at 202, Congress adopted IGRA to provide a framework for joint federal, state, and tribal regulation.

IGRA divides games into three classes. Class I games are "social games solely for prizes of minimal value or traditional forms of Indian gaming" connected with "tribal ceremonies or celebrations." 25 U.S.C. § 2703(6). Class II gaming is bingo, games similar to bingo, and certain card games. See id. § 2703(7). Class III gaming covers all other forms of gaming, including casino-style gambling. See id. § 2703(8); see also Keweenaw Bay Indian Community v. United States, 136 F.3d 469, 473 (6th Cir. 1998) ("Keweenaw").

Tribes can conduct class I gaming without federal or state regulation. See 25 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(1). IGRA permits class II gaming only if a tribe adopts a gaming ordinance and only if the state generally permits similar games. See id. § 2710(b)(1). IGRA allows class III gaming only if the tribe adopts a gaming ordinance, the state permits similar games, and the tribe and state enter into a Tribal-State gaming compact. See id. § 2710(d)(1). Tribal-State compacts resolve significant policy issues, such as allocation of criminal and civil jurisdiction, taxation, and standards for operating casinos. See id. § 2710(d)(3).

Indian tribes can't just conduct gaming anywhere they like.

Generally, these rules for class I, II, and III gaming apply to "Indian lands," meaning lands that are part of a tribe's reservation or are lands the United States already holds in trust for a tribe. See id. § 2703(4). Not all Indian

lands are subject to those rules. IGRA roughly divides Indian lands into two categories, historic Indian lands, and "after-acquired lands," which are lands acquired by the federal government for a tribe after October 17, 1988, the date of the passage of IGRA. The concern that tribes might try to acquire new, off-reservation land in locales that are more desirable for operating casinos drives this distinction.

IGRA, however, was not passed so that tribes could run casinos in downtown San Francisco or Los Angeles. *See Stand Up!*, 6 Cal. App. 5th at 737 (Franson, J. concurring and dissenting) (regarding "concern that [] tribal governments might acquire trust land in or near metropolitan areas and open bingo [class II] or casino facilities [class III] on that land"). Accordingly, on pre-1988 Indian lands, gaming can occur under the aforementioned rules for class II and III gaming, but for *post*-1988 Indian lands, such gaming can occur only if (1) "the Secretary, after consultation with the Indian tribe and appropriate State and local officials, including officials of other nearby Indian tribes, determines that a gaming establishment on newly acquired lands would be in the best interest of the Indian tribe and its members, and would not be detrimental to the surrounding community," and (2) "only if the Governor of the State in which the gaming activity is to be conducted concurs in the Secretary's determination." *Id.* § 2719(b)(1)(A).²

There are other, statutory exceptions from the gaming prohibition for lands taken into trust after 1988. Lands are not subject to the prohibition when taken in trust for a tribe newly acknowledged as a federally-recognized tribe; when restored to a tribe restored to federal recognition; or as the result of a settlement of land claims. See 25 U.S.C. § 2719(a)(1), (a)(2)(B), (b)(1)(B). These federal law exceptions, rarely occurring, share a common bond—they are for lands that have a physical, legal, or cultural connection to historical tribes that are newly acknowledged or restored.

The two primary means for states, under IGRA, to effectuate their public policies for Indian gaming—(1) negotiating and entering compacts, and (2) concurring in the Secretary's determination—are legally distinct and independent. A compact is an absolute prerequisite for class III gaming on all Indian lands, whenever acquired. The governor's concurrence is an absolute prerequisite for class II or III gaming on post-1988 lands, but not required for gaming on pre-1988 lands. The following table illustrates the relationship of compacts and concurrences, and what gaming is allowed, and where, when a state does one, the other, both, or neither:

	Compact	No Compact
Concurrence	Class I, II, and III gaming on any Indian land	Class I and II gaming on any Indian land
No Concurrence	Class I, II, and III gaming on pre-1988 Indian land	Class I and II gaming on pre-1988 Indian land

Federal courts have upheld IGRA's concurrence requirement in the face of federal constitutional challenges. See Lac Courte Oreilles Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians v. United States, 367 F.3d 650 (7th Cir. 2004) ("Lac Courte"); Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians v. United States, 110 F.3d 688 (9th Cir. 1997) ("Confederated Tribes"). Those courts have held that, far from offending state sovereignty in violation of the

However, for tribes with an established reservation, the means of obtaining a casino on an off-reservation casino is for the Secretary and a governor to agree that it will benefit the tribe and not harm the surrounding community.

federal constitution, IGRA advances state sovereignty. See Lac Courte, 367 F.3d at 663. Governors may, but are not required to, concur. Id. at 658; see id. at 661–662. Governors may take state interests and public policies into account when deciding whether or not to concur. See id. at 660. Also, IGRA does not empower governors "to act outside the strictures of the gaming policy that [his or her state] has already established through legislation and amendments to" the state constitution. Id. at 664; see Confederated Tribes, 110 F.3d at 697–698. "Thus, the Governor's decision regarding any particular proposal is not analogous to creating [a state's] gaming policy wholesale—a legislative function—but rather is typical of the executive's responsibility to render decisions based on existing policy." Lac Courte, 367 F.3d at 664; cf. Confederated Tribes, 110 F.3d at 696 (holding that federal power over Indian tribes is "a legislative function").

A final note about federal law: IGRA does not control the federal government's processes for taking land into trust for tribes. The Indian Reorganization Act ("IRA") does. See 25 U.S.C. § 5108. The IRA "authorizes the Secretary [of the Interior] . . . to acquire land and hold it in trust 'for the purpose of providing land for Indians." Carcieri v. Salazar, 555 U.S. 379, 381–382 (2009). Federal regulations explain how this authority is exercised. Among other things, the Secretary can take land into trust if he or she "determines that the acquisition of the land is necessary to facilitate tribal self-determination, economic development, or Indian housing." 25 C.F.R. § 151.3.

In practice, the Secretary considers the IRA and IGRA at the same time—before land is taken into trust. That is, the Secretary considers the land's potential post-acquisition use for Indian gaming *before* the Secretary actually decides to acquire the land in trust. Thus, the Secretary asks the

governor to concur before deciding whether to take land into trust. *See Stand Up for California!* v. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 919 F. Supp. 2d 51, 71 (D.D.C. 2013). This is done because the trust acquisition approval under 25 C.F.R. § 151.11 (off-reservation trust parcels) and 25 C.F.R. 292.16 and .18 (secretarial determination for gaming on post-1988 trust land) is predicated on the purposes for which the land is to be used and requires compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 *et seq.*, and other federal laws. If gaming is the proposed purpose of the trust acquisition, that acquisition depends on the gubernatorial concurrence; without the gubernatorial concurrence, the proposed trust acquisition must be reconsidered. In consequence, the gubernatorial concurrence not only triggers the lifting of the prohibition on class II and III tribal gaming for off-reservation parcels, but also triggers the approval process for the Secretary to take the off-reservation land in trust for gaming purposes.³

II. California's Law and Policy Prohibiting Gaming Within the State

In 1984, the people of California amended the state Constitution to prohibit casino-style gaming within the state. Section 19(e) was added to Article IV, and it simultaneously stripped the Legislature of "power to authorize" casino-style gaming and ordered the Legislature to "prohibit"

³ The Secretary is separately empowered to take land in trust for the benefit of Indians and Indian tribes under 25 U.S.C. section 465, and associated regulations, and in non-gaming circumstances, such authority does not depend on a state governor. Assuming a post-1988 trust acquisition does not involve or obtain a gubernatorial concurrence for gaming, the Secretary may still take it in trust, but it will be ineligible for gaming. *See* Justice Detjen's discussion in *Stand Up!*, 6 Cal. App. 5th at 702 (Detjen, J., concurring and dissenting).

casino-style gaming. Subject to an exclusion discussed below, Article IV, Section 19(e) remains in full force today.

After IGRA's passage, California's voters approved an initiative that purported to authorize the Governor to negotiate compacts with Indian tribes for casino-style gaming; this Court invalidated the initiative, however, because it violated Article IV, Section 19(e). *See Davis*, 21 Cal. 4th at 589–90. That led to Proposition 1A, a successful effort in 2000 to amend Article IV, Section 19.

The Legislative Analyst's analysis of Proposition 1A discussed gaming only on existing Indian lands and did not mention gaming on lands acquired in trust after 1988. *See* Request for Judicial Notice ("RJN"), Exhibit A ("Ex. A"), March 7, 2000 Primary Election Voter Information Guide ("Voter Information Guide"), Analysis by the Legislative Analyst, at 4. The Ballot Pamphlet addressed post-1988 lands: supporters argued that the amendment was necessary for gaming on existing reservations to continue in accordance with federal law; opponents argued that the amendment would spread gaming to new lands. RJN, Ex. A, Voter Information Guide, *supra*, Argument in Favor of Proposition 1A, at 6; RJN, Ex. A, Voter Information Guide, Argument Against Proposition 1A, at 7. The supporters won out. Proposition 1A passed and added subdivision (f) to Section 19:

"Notwithstanding subdivisions (a) and (e), and any other provision of state law, the Governor is authorized to negotiate and conclude compacts, subject to ratification by the Legislature, for the operation of slot machines and for the conduct of lottery games and banking and percentage card games by federally recognized Indian tribes on Indian lands in California in accordance with federal law. Accordingly, slot machines, lottery games, and banking and percentage

card games are hereby permitted to be conducted and operated on tribal lands subject to those compacts."

Passage of the amendment had the effect of validating 57 Tribal-State compacts with tribes on their reservations or federally recognized lands.

III. Relevant Facts and Procedural History

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