In the Supreme Court of the State of California

UNITED AUBURN INDIAN COMMUNITY OF THE AUBURN RANCHERIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

 \mathbf{v} .

EDMUND G. BROWN JR., as Governor,

Defendant and Respondent.

Case No. S238544

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 26 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Third Appellate District, Case No. C075126
Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 34-201380001412CUWMGDS
Honorable Eugene Balonon, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under this Court's precedents, there are two questions the Court should address in resolving United Auburn's challenge. First, did the Governor have the authority to concur in the Secretary's determination regarding the Yuba site? Second, did that concurrence defeat or materially impair a core function of the Legislative Branch?

Governor Brown had both specific and general authority to concur as a matter of state law. The Constitution and the Government Code authorize the Governor to negotiate compacts "in accordance with federal law" for gaming "pursuant to" IGRA. (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 19, subd. (f); Gov. Code, §§ 12012.5, subd. (d), 12012.25, subd. (d).) IGRA authorizes gaming to be conducted on lands like the Yuba site, which are acquired by the Secretary after 1988 and held in trust for the benefit of an Indian tribe, provided that the Governor of the affected State concurs in the Secretary's interest/detriment determination regarding those lands. (See 25 U.S.C. § 2719(b)(1)(A).) By explicitly granting authority to the Governor to negotiate and conclude compacts for any type of gaming that is in accordance with IGRA, the Constitution and the Government Code also confer authority on the Governor to issue a concurrence in such a determination. The Governor's power to compact for class III gaming in accordance with federal law presupposes that the Governor possesses the power to concur in a determination by the Secretary under section 2719(b)(1)(A) regarding lands like the Yuba site—because no class III gaming can occur on that land without a concurrence. A contrary interpretation would render the compacting power a nullity with respect to class III gaming on Indian lands of the sort at issue in this case. Neither the text nor the history of the Constitution or Government Code support limiting the Governor's authority in that way.

In addition, as the head of the executive branch, the Governor has general authority to interact with, and to respond to inquiries from, the federal government. The Legislature has acknowledged that authority, adopting a statute recognizing the Governor as the official organ of communication between the government of this State and the federal government. The Governor's inherent authority includes the power to convey his or her views on particular federal proposals, as informed by state law and policy. The concurrence at issue here is just one example of the Governor's exercise of this general authority. Indeed, this kind of interaction is an everyday occurrence in our system of federalism, and numerous federal statutes direct that the federal government may not take a proposed action until the governor of the affected State "concurs" or "consents." A rule forbidding the Governor from concurring or consenting in such a proposal unless expressly authorized to do so by a state statute or constitutional provision would be contrary to settled practice and unworkable.

Finally, the Governor's concurrence raises no separation of powers concerns, because it did not defeat or materially impair any core function of the Legislature. The concurrence was a "typical" executive act, not a legislative act. (*Lac Courte*, *supra*, 367 F.3d at p. 664.) And it was entirely consistent with existing state law and policy—including the policy of allowing federally recognized Indian tribes to negotiate compacts for casino-style gaming, in accordance with federal law, as a means of becoming economically self-sufficient.

ARGUMENT

I. LEGAL STANDARD: THE GOVERNOR MAY ACT WITHIN HIS SPHERE OF AUTHORITY SO LONG AS HE DOES NOT MATERIALLY IMPAIR THE CORE FUNCTIONS OF ANOTHER BRANCH

The California Constitution provides that the "powers of state government are legislative, executive, and judicial." (Cal. Const., art. III, § 3.) It directs that "[p]ersons charged with the exercise of one power may not exercise either of the others except as permitted by this Constitution." (*Ibid.*) By limiting the ability "of one of the three branches of government to arrogate to itself the core functions of another branch," this separation of powers doctrine prevents "one branch of government from exercising the *complete* power constitutionally vested in another." (*Carmel Valley Fire Protection Dist. v. State* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 287, 297, 298, italics in original.)

Although the constitutional text might be read to suggest a rigid division of authority, this Court has repeatedly recognized that the powers of the three branches overlap. Indeed, ""[f]rom the beginning, each branch has exercised all three kinds of powers." (*Davis v. Municipal Court* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 64, 76; see also *People v. Provines* (1868) 34 Cal. 520, 540-542 (conc. opn. of Sawyer, C.J.).) And each branch "for its own existence must in some degree exercise some of the functions of the others." (*Younger v. Superior Court* (1978) 21 Cal.3d 102, 117.) The doctrine therefore "comprehends the existence of common boundaries between the legislative, judicial, and executive zones of power," and it "does not command 'a hermetic sealing off of the three branches of Government from one another." (*Hustedt v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 329, 338; cf. *Parker v. Riley* (1941) 18 Cal.2d 83, 90.)

Because of this inevitable overlap, courts take a "pragmatic approach" to analyzing separation of powers questions. (*Hustedt*, *supra*, 30 Cal.3d. at p. 338; see also *Marine Forests Society v. California Coastal Com.* (2005)

36 Cal.4th 1, 15 [describing "a realistic and practical" approach].) The doctrine does not "prohibit one branch from taking action properly within its sphere," even where that action "has the incidental effect of duplicating a function or procedure delegated to another branch." (*Younger*, *supra*, 21 Cal.3d at p. 117, italics omitted.) This holds true even if the effect on the core functions of another branch is "significant[]." (*Carmel Valley*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 298.) Instead, the "doctrine is violated only when the actions of a branch of government defeat or materially impair the inherent functions of another branch" (*In re Rosenkrantz* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 616, 662) or "impermissibly intrude or infringe upon" the "core zone of" the other branch's functions (*Marine Forests*, *supra*, at p. 46; cf. *Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assn. v. Padilla* (2016) 62 Cal.4th 486, 499).

II. THE GOVERNOR HAD AUTHORITY TO CONCUR IN THE SECRETARY'S DETERMINATION ABOUT GAMING AT THE YUBA COUNTY SITE

The Constitution vests "the supreme executive power of this State" in the Governor. (Cal. Const., art. V, § 1.) That power includes the general authority to "see that the law is faithfully executed." (*Ibid.*) Precedent and experience offer guidance in determining the scope of the supreme executive power conferred by the state Constitution. The Governor's authority obviously includes those specific powers expressly enumerated. (See, e.g., Cal. Const., art. V, § 7 [commander-in-chief of militia].) In addition, like the other branches, the Governor has certain inherent powers that are not expressly listed. (See, e.g., *Spear v. Reeves* (1906) 148 Cal. 501, 504; see also *Superior Court v. County of Mendocino* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 45, 57-58 [judicial]); *Ex parte Collie* (1952) 38 Cal.2d 396, 398 [legislative].) In this case, the Governor had specific authority to concur based on a particular power enumerated in the Constitution, and general

authority to concur flowing from his position as the supreme executive officer.

- A. The Governor Has Specific Authority to Concur Deriving from the Constitution and the Government Code
 - 1. The People and the Legislature granted authority to the Governor regarding Indian gaming

After Congress adopted IGRA, California voters amended our Constitution to authorize certain types of gaming "by federally recognized Indian tribes on Indian lands in California in accordance with federal law," and to empower the Governor "to negotiate and conclude compacts" for such gaming, "subject to ratification by the Legislature." (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 19, subd. (f); see generally *Flynt*, *supra*, 104 Cal.App.4th at p. 1137.)⁷ Similarly, the Legislature amended the Government Code to provide that "[t]he Governor is the designated state officer responsible for negotiating and executing, on behalf of the state, tribal-state gaming compacts with federally recognized Indian tribes in the State of California pursuant to" IGRA "for the purpose of authorizing class III gaming, as defined in that

⁷ United Auburn frames the Indian gaming provisions of the California Constitution as a narrow exception to "California's law and policy prohibiting gaming within the State." (ABOM 11.) In fact, California "has permitted the operation of gambling establishments for more than 100 years." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 19801, subd. (b).) The State has authorized and regulated a variety of gaming activities, often in ways that confer substantial authority on the executive branch. For example, the Constitution authorizes the establishment of a California State Lottery. (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 19, subd. (d).) The Legislature created the State Lottery Commission to regulate that lottery. (See Gov. Code, §§ 8880.24 et seq.; see also Cal. Const., art. IV, § 19, subd. (b) [authorizing horse racing]; Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 19400, 19404, 19440 [creating Horse Racing Board to regulate and enforce]; Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 19811, 19824 [creating the Gambling Control Commission].)

act, on Indian lands." (Gov. Code, § 12012.5, subd. (d); see *id.*, § 12012.25, subd. (d) [same].)

No one disputes that these provisions confer both constitutional and statutory authority on the Governor in the arena of Indian gaming. They authorize the Governor to take the steps necessary to negotiate, conclude, and execute compacts providing for class III gaming by federally recognized Indian tribes on Indian lands in California, in accordance with the requirements and procedures in IGRA. Since 1999, three different Governors have negotiated compacts for class III gaming with scores of Indian tribes.⁸

The scope of the Governor's authority in this area is informed by federal law, because California has opted to participate in IGRA and to allow the Governor to negotiate and conclude compacts "in accordance with federal law." (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 19, subd. (f).) It is federal law, for example, that defines the entities qualifying as "federally recognized Indian tribes." (*Ibid.*; see 25 U.S.C. § 2703(5).) Federal law also informs the conduct of the negotiations, such as by requiring the State to "negotiate with the Indian tribe in good faith" (25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(A)), and by setting out provisions that may be included in a negotiated tribal-state compact (*id.*, § 2710(d)(3)(C)).

Most relevant here, federal law informs the Governor's authority by specifying the lands on which proposed class III gaming may be conducted. It limits class III gaming to "Indian lands" (25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(1)), defined to include "all lands within the limits of any Indian reservation" and lands for which the title is "held in trust by the United States for the

⁸ See generally Ratified Tribal-State Gaming Compacts (New and Amended) http://www.cgcc.ca.gov/?pageID=compacts [as of June 20, 2017] ("Database of Ratified Compacts").

benefit of any Indian tribe" (id., § 2703(4)(A), (B)). All Indian lands that were acquired by the Secretary in trust for the benefit of an Indian tribe on or before October 17, 1988 are eligible to host class III gaming, subject to the requirements of IGRA. (See id., § 2719(a).) Certain additional categories of land acquired by the Secretary after 1988 are also eligible to host class III gaming. (See id., § 2719(a)-(b); ante, p. 15.) They include lands such as the Yuba site, which have been taken into trust for the benefit of an Indian tribe after 1988, and for which the Secretary has made the interest/detriment determination required by section 2719(b)(1)(A) and the Governor has issued a concurrence in that determination. When the People granted the Governor compacting authority regarding class III gaming on Indian lands "in accordance with federal law" (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 19, subd. (f)), that authority necessarily included gaming authorized through the process established in section 2719(b)(1)(A), which is part of the federal law regulating Indian gaming. The Governor's statutory authority to negotiate and execute gaming compacts "pursuant to" IGRA (Gov. Code, § 12012.5, subd. (d)) likewise includes gaming authorized through that process.

2. The Governor's authority regarding Indian gaming includes the power to concur

The Governor's authority in this area must also include implied power to take the steps needed to "negotiate," "conclude," and "execute" a compact consistent with federal law. This Court has long recognized that the Constitution may confer implied authority on government officials. (See, e.g., Superior Court v. County of Mendocino (1996) 13 Cal.4th 45,

⁹ "Indian lands" also includes "any lands title to which is . . . held by any Indian tribe or individual subject to restriction by the United States against alienation and over which an Indian tribe exercises governmental power." (25 U.S.C. § 2703(4)(B).)

57; ante, p. 24.) It is also "well settled in this state that governmental officials may exercise such additional powers as are necessary for the due and efficient administration of powers expressly granted by statute, or as may fairly be implied from the statute granting the powers." (Dickey v. Raisin Proration Zone (1944) 24 Cal.2d 796, 810; see also Crawford v. Imperial Irrigation Dist. (1927) 200 Cal. 318, 333-334; 52 Cal.Jur.3d (2010) Public Officers and Employees, § 196, p. 291.)

For example, the Legislature has express authority to enact legislation, which carries with it the "implied power to appoint committees for the purpose of obtaining information concerning proposed legislation." (Special Assembly Interim Committee on Public Morals of California Legislature v. Southard (1939) (Southard) 13 Cal.2d 497, 503; cf. Parker, supra, 18 Cal.2d at p. 90.) And when a statute creates a governmental agency for the purpose of accumulating reserves and providing insurance, that agency has implied authority to employ special counsel to protect its rights when it faces pending litigation. (See State Comp. Insurance Fund v. Riley (1937) 9 Cal.2d 126, 128, 131.)

Here, in order to negotiate and conclude a compact with a tribe, the Governor must possess certain implied authorities. For example, the Governor and his or her staff must have authority to meet with the affected tribes and other interested parties, to research and collect information about the tribe's gaming proposal, and so forth. If the tribe's proposal is for a gaming facility on land that would be subject to the process in section 2719(b)(1)(A), then the Governor's authority must also include the power to evaluate the Secretary's determination, and—if consistent with state law and policy—to concur in it. That concurrence is a necessary precondition for any type of gaming regulated by IGRA to take place on such lands under section 2719(b)(1)(A), which is one way for Indian tribes to conduct gaming activities "pursuant to the federal Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of

1988" (e.g., Gov. Code, § 12012.5, subd. (d)) and "in accordance with federal law" (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 19, subd. (f)). As the superior court observed below, "[t]he Governor's concurrence was necessary and incidental to compact negotiations, as Class III gaming could not occur on the Yuba Site without the Governor's concurrence, and without a compact." (CT 199.)

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